LAWSON PRODUCTS INC/NEW/DE/

Form 10-Q April 25, 2013

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

ý Quarterly Report under Section 13 OR 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For quarterly period ended March 31, 2013

"Transition Report under Section 13 OR 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For the transition period from to

Commission file Number: 0-10546

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 36-2229304
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

8770 W. Bryn Mawr Avenue, Suite 900, Chicago,

Illinois 60631

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(773) 304-5050

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ý No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer "

Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer "(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company"

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act). Yes "No ý

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock, \$1 par value, as of April 15, 2013 was 8,606,456.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I	- FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page #
Item 1	Financial Statements	<u>4</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2013 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2012	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited)	<u>5</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (unaudited)	<u>6</u>
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	7
Item 2	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>11</u>
Item 3	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	<u>14</u>
Item 4	Controls and Procedures	<u>14</u>
PART II	- OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 6	Exhibits Index	<u>15</u>
SIGNAT	TURES	<u>16</u>
2		

Table of Contents

"Safe Harbor" Statement under the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. The terms "may," "should," "could," "anticipate," "believe," "continues," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "objective," "plan," "potential," "project" and similar exprintended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. These statements are based on management's current expectations, intentions or beliefs and are subject to a number of factors, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences or that might otherwise impact the business include:

failure to retain a talented workforce including productive sales representatives;

the inability of management to successfully implement strategic initiatives;

failure to manage change within the organization;

the ability to generate sufficient cash to fund our operating requirements;

the ability to meet the covenant requirements of our line of credit;

disruptions of the Company's information and communication systems;

the effect of general economic and market conditions;

inventory obsolescence;

work stoppages and other disruptions at transportation centers or shipping ports;

changing customer demand and product mixes;

increases in energy and commodity prices;

violations of environmental protection regulations;

a negative outcome related to tax matters; and

all other factors discussed in the Company's "Risk Factors" set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The Company undertakes no obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lawson Products, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

	March 31, 2013 (unaudited)	December 31, 2012
ASSETS	(
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,335	\$1,640
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts	36,063	31,387
Inventories, net	54,526	51,484
Miscellaneous receivables and prepaid expenses	6,350	5,451
Deferred income taxes	17	17
Discontinued operations	342	350
Total current assets	98,633	90,329
Property, plant and equipment, net	66,425	67,155
Cash value of life insurance	12,701	14,943
Deferred income taxes	55	55
Other assets	458	449
Total assets	\$178,272	\$172,931
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:	¢10.040	Φ16 107
Revolving line of credit	\$19,842	\$16,127
Accounts payable	16,364	11,833
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	33,898	31,762
Discontinued operations	106	106
Total current liabilities	70,210	59,828
Security bonus plan	17,224	18,837
Deferred compensation	5,779	5,868
Financing lease obligation	10,789	10,786
Deferred rent liability	4,780	4,621
Other liabilities	1,882	2,258
	40,454	42,370
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, \$1 par value:		
Authorized - 500,000 shares, Issued and outstanding — None	_	_
Common stock, \$1 par value:		
Authorized - 35,000,000 shares; Issued - 8,615,659 and 8,614,837 shares, respectively; Outstanding - 8,606,456 and 8,605,901 shares, respectively	8,616	8,615
Capital in excess of par value	7,222	6,951
Retained earnings	49,541	52,764
Treasury stock – 9,203 and 8,936 shares, respectively	(157)	(155)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	2,386	2,558
Stockholders' equity	67,608	70,733
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$178,272	\$172,931
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.		

Table of Contents

Lawson Products, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended	l March 31,	
	2013	2012	
Net sales	\$71,995	\$75,962	
Cost of goods sold	31,001	34,628	
Gross profit	40,994	41,334	
Operating expenses:			
Selling, general and administrative expenses	43,857	43,982	
Severance expenses	_	185	
	43,857	44,167	
Operating loss	(2,863) (2,833)
Interest expense	(213) (82)
Other expenses, net	(61) (7)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes	(3,137) (2,922)
Income tax expense (benefit)	57	(1,137)
Loss from continuing operations	(3,194) (1,785)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes	(29) (13)
Net loss	\$(3,223	\$(1,798))
Basic and diluted loss per share of common stock:			
Continuing operations	\$(0.37	\$(0.21))
Discontinued operations	_	_	
Net loss per share	\$(0.37	\$(0.21))
Basic weighted average shares outstanding	8,606	8,574	
Dilutive effect of stock based compensation	_		
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	8,606	8,574	
Cash dividends declared per share of common stock	\$ —	\$0.12	
Comprehensive Loss Net Loss			
	¢(2 222	\$ (1.708	`
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	\$(3,223) \$(1,798) 427)
Adjustment for foreign currency translation	(172) 427	`
Net Comprehensive loss	\$(3,395	\$(1,371))

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Lawson Products, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31,		ı 31,	
	2013		2012	
Operating activities:				
Net loss	\$(3,223)	\$(1,798)
Loss from discontinued operations	29		13	,
Loss from continuing operations	(3,194)	(1,785)
	* *			,
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization	2,101		1,735	
Stock based compensation	1,596		198	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts receivable	(4,779)	3,286	
Inventories	(3,157)	(3,184)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	1,261		(84)
Accounts payable and other liabilities	3,532		(9,163)
Other	28		146	
Net cash used in operating activities of continuing operations	\$(2,612)	\$(8,851)
Investing activities:				
Additions to property, plant and equipment	\$(1,401)	\$(4,440)
Net proceeds related to sale of businesses	-	,	250	,
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations	\$(1,401)	\$(4,190)
	,		,	
Financing activities:				
Net proceeds from line of credit	\$3,715		\$13,350	
Dividends paid	_		(1,027)
Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations	\$3,715		\$12,323	
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations	\$(7)	\$(185)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(305)	(903)
	1.610		2.116	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	1,640		2,116	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$1,335		\$1,213	

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Lawson Products, Inc. (the "Company") have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information, the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not contain all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles. Reference should be made to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. In the opinion of the Company, all normal recurring adjustments have been made, that are necessary to present fairly the results of operations for the interim periods. Operating results for the three month periods ended March 31, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2013.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to current period presentation. Such reclassifications have no effect on net income as previously reported. The effect of restricted share awards and future stock option exercises equivalent to 42 thousand and 39 thousand shares for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, would have been anti-dilutive and therefore, were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.

There have been no material changes in our significant accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the significant accounting policies described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company has determined that there were no subsequent events to recognize or disclose in these financial statements.

Note 2 — Inventories, net

Components of inventories were as follows:

	(Dollars in thousand	s)	
	March 31, 2013	December 31, 2012	
Finished goods	\$58,248	\$56,108	
Work in progress	2,105	2,292	
Raw materials	1,611	1,630	
Total	61,964	60,030	
Reserve for obsolete and excess inventory	(7,438) (8,546)
	\$54,526	\$51,484	

Note 3 — Credit Facility

In 2012, the Company entered into a \$40.0 million credit facility ("Credit Facility") which expires in August 2017. The Credit Facility consists of a \$40.0 million revolving credit facility which includes a \$10.0 million sub-facility for Letters of Credit. Until the later of June 30, 2014 or when the Company achieves certain financial covenants, credit available under the Credit Facility is based upon:

a) 80% of the face amount of the Company's eligible accounts receivables, generally less than 60 days past due, and

b) 50% of the lower of cost or market value of the Company's eligible inventory, generally inventory expected to be sold within 18 months or \$20.0 million, whichever is less.

The applicable interest rate margins for borrowings under the Credit Facility are at the Prime rate or the LIBOR rate plus 2.75% for the first year and LIBOR plus 2.50% for the second year of the agreement. Following the second year, the interest rate will be based on the Company's debt to EBITDA ratio and range from LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.85% or Prime minus 1.00% to 0.40%.

The Credit Facility is secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all existing assets of the Company. Dividends are restricted under the Credit Facility to amounts not to exceed \$1.1 million per quarter subject to a formula based on EBITDA achieved in the previous quarter compared to amounts specified in the Credit Facility.

Table of Contents

In addition to other customary representations, warranties and covenants, the Credit Facility requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants. A minimum Consolidated EBITDA level, as defined in the Credit Facility, must be achieved on a quarterly basis as detailed in the following table:

,	Minimum EBITDA (as
Quarter Ended	Defined in the Credit
	Facility)
March 31, 2013	\$0
June 30, 2013	2,000,000
September 30, 2013	3,500,000
December 31, 2013	3,000,000
March 31, 2014	3,500,000
June 30, 2014	3,500,000

For the period ended March 31, 2013, EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Facility, was \$0.7 million which was in compliance with the minimum EBITDA covenant of breakeven for the quarter.

Upon meeting certain financial covenants, but not prior to June 30, 2014, the availability under the Credit Facility will be based upon the following covenants with a maximum borrowing level of \$40.0 million:

- Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.20:1.00 measured quarterly beginning June 30, 2014 and building cumulatively to a rolling four quarters.
- b) Minimum Tangible Net Worth of not less than 90% of the value of shareholders' equity less intangible assets established as of June 30, 2014, tested quarterly.
- c) Minimum cash, accounts receivable and inventory to debt ratio of 2.0 to 1.0.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had an outstanding balance of \$19.8 million under the revolving line of credit of its Credit Facility and additional borrowing availability of \$15.8 million. The weighted average interest rate was 3.0% through the three months ended March 31, 2013 and the outstanding balance approximates fair value.

Note 4 — Severance Reserve

The table below shows the changes in the Company's reserve for severance and related payments as of March 31, 2013 and 2012.

	(Dollars in thou	usands)	
	Three Months l	Ended March 31,	
	2013	2012	
Balance at beginning of period	\$4,417	\$1,282	
Charged to earnings		185	
Payments	(986) (584)
Balance at end of period	\$3,431	\$883	

Accrued severance charges are included in the line items of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 as follows:

	(Dollars in thousands)		
	March 31, Decemb		
	2013	2012	
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	\$2,831	\$3,467	

Other liabilities	600	950
Total accrued severance	\$3,431	\$4,417

Table of Contents

Note 5 — Stock Based Compensation

The Company has recorded expenses related to stock based compensation of approximately \$1.6 million and \$0.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. A summary of stock based awards issued during the three months ended March 31, 2013 follows:

Stock Performance Rights ("SPRs")

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company issued 145,872 SPRs to key employees with an average exercise price of \$12.18 per share. The SPRs issued in 2013, cliff vest on December 31, 2015 and have a termination date of December 31, 2020.

Market Stock Units ("MSUs")

MSU's are exchangeable for the Company's common shares at the end of the vesting period. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company issued 62,779 MSUs to key employees with a vesting date of December 31, 2015. The number of shares of common stock that will be issued upon vesting, between zero to 94,169, will be determined based upon the trailing thirty day average closing price of the Company's common stock on December 31, 2015.

Note 6 — Income Tax

Primarily due to the cumulative losses that the Company recorded over the past three years, in 2012, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that it will not be able to utilize its deferred tax assets to offset future taxable income. Therefore, substantially all deferred tax assets are subject to a tax valuation allowance until the Company can establish that the recoverability of its deferred tax assets is more likely than not to be realized. Due to the full tax valuation allowance, no federal income tax benefit was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. Federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. As of March 31, 2013, the Company is subject to U.S. Federal income tax examinations for the years 2009 through 2011 and income tax examinations from various other jurisdictions for the years 2006 through 2011. The Company is currently under examination by the Canada Revenue Authority for the years 2006 through 2010 and the Company is complying with the information requests and procedural requirements of the examination.

Earnings from the Company's foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. A distribution of these non-U.S. earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise would subject the Company to both U.S. Federal and state income taxes, as adjusted for foreign tax credits.

Note 7 — Contingent Liabilities

One of the Company's subsidiaries, Drummond American LLC ("Drummond"), is under an employment tax examination for the years 2007 and 2008 of the long-standing treatment of its sales representatives as independent contractors. In January 2012 the Company received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment in the amount of \$9.5 million, including penalties, from the IRS challenging Drummond's position that the sales representatives were independent contractors. The Company disagreed with the IRS position and filed an administrative appeal with the IRS Appeals Office.

Although the Company intends to vigorously defend its position for the treatment of its sales representatives as independent contractors, the Company established a liability of \$1.2 million during 2011 as its best estimate of the cost to resolve the matter with the IRS. The notice of Proposed Adjustment was determined by applying the full

statutory rates and penalties, rather than applying the reduced tax rates provided by section 3509 of the Internal Revenue Code ("IRC"). The Company believes the use of reduced tax rates is mandatory for all IRS worker classification assessments, except when the employer intentionally disregarded its employment tax obligations. Because the Company believes it fully complied with its employment tax obligations, the Company based its estimated loss at the reduced tax rates. The Company applied these reduced tax rates against only one year because any settlement resolution would likely be limited to one year as this is consistent with the IRS's settlement practices. The Company has assessed its potential exposure for other subsidiaries and time periods and has concluded that an additional liability is not probable. No adjustment has been proposed by the IRS for any other time periods or subsidiaries of the Company.

The case has been assigned to the Chicago Appeals Office. The Company is unable to establish an estimated time frame in which the case will be resolved through the appeals process. An unfavorable outcome of this matter could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Table of Contents

In 2012, the Company identified that a site owned by its Automatic Screw Machine Products ("ASMP") subsidiary in Alabama contained hazardous substances in the soil and groundwater as a result of historical operations prior to the Company's ownership. The Company has retained an environmental consulting firm to further investigate the contamination including the measurement and monitoring of the site. At this time insufficient data regarding the situation has been collected to reasonably estimate the cost, if any, of remedying this situation. Accordingly, the Company has not established a reserve for any remediation costs.

In 2012, the Company contracted with a third party for the installation of material handling equipment in the Company's new McCook, Illinois distribution center. The third party, in turn, hired subcontractors to complete the project. As of December 31, 2012, certain of the subcontractors had not yet been paid in full which could have resulted in the the subcontractors to file mechanic's liens against the property. While such liens would be the C) responsibility of the third party, the Company could, under certain circumstances, be required to satisfy any unpaid obligations. During the first quarter of 2013, the third party made significant progress in making payments to the subcontractors. As a result, the Company estimates its possible net exposure has been reduced to zero since year end and it believes the chance that it would be required to satisfy any unpaid obligations is remote. Accordingly, no amount has been accrued in the accompanying financial statements.

Note 8 — Non-Cash Items

During the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company recorded a \$4.0 million increase in Property, plant and equipment, along with a corresponding increase in liabilities, related to the Financing lease obligation of the McCook, Illinois distribution center. These non-cash increases have been excluded from the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Note 9 — Segment Reporting

The Company has two reportable operating segments: MRO and OEM. The Company's MRO segment is a distributor of products and services to the industrial, commercial, institutional, and governmental maintenance, repair and operations marketplace. The Company's OEM segment manufactures, sells and distributes production and specialized component parts to the original equipment marketplace. The Company's two reportable segments are distinguished by the nature of products distributed and sold, types of customers and manner of servicing them. The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources to reportable segments primarily based on operating income.

The following table presents summary financial information for the Company's reportable segments:

	(Dollars in thousand	ds)	
	Three Months Ende	ed March 31,	
	2013	2012	
Net sales			
MRO	\$67,213	\$71,364	
OEM	4,782	4,598	
Consolidated total	\$71,995	\$75,962	
Operating income (loss)			
MRO	\$(3,488) \$(3,239)
OEM	625	591	
Severance expenses	_	(185)
Consolidated total	\$(2,863) \$(2,833)
Interest expense	(213) (82)

Other expenses, net (61) (7)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes \$(3,137) \$(2,922)

10

Table of Contents

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The MRO business is significantly influenced by the overall strength of the manufacturing sector of the U.S. economy. One measure used to gauge the strength of the industrial products market is the Purchasing Manufacturers Index ("PMI") published by the Institute for Supply Management. The average monthly PMI of 52.9 in the first quarter of 2013 was relatively flat compared to 53.0 in the first quarter of 2012 indicating a slight slowdown in the growth rate from a year ago. The MRO industry is highly fragmented. We compete for business with several national distributors as well as a large number of regional and local distributors.

For the first quarter of 2013, our operating loss was \$2.9 million, which included \$1.6 million of stock based compensation expense and \$1.2 million related to a national sales meeting, compared to a loss of \$2.8 million a year ago which included \$0.2 million of stock based compensation expense.

Quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to quarter ended March 31, 2012

The following table presents a summary of our financial performance for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

2012.	2013			2012			
(\$ in thousands)	Amount	% of Net Sales		Amount		% of Net Sales	
Net sales							
MRO	\$67,213	93.4	%	\$71,364		93.9	%
OEM	4,782	6.6	%	4,598		6.1	%
Consolidated total	\$71,995	100.0	%	\$75,962		100.0	%
Gross profit							
MRO	\$39,814	59.2	%	\$40,297		56.5	%
OEM	1,180	24.7	%	1,037		22.6	%
Consolidated total	40,994	56.9	%	41,334		54.4	%
Operating expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses							
Selling expenses	21,613	30.0	%	20,134		26.5	%
General and administrative expense	22,244	30.9	%	23,848		31.4	%
Total SG&A	43,857	60.9	%	43,982		57.9	%
Severance expenses			%	185		0.2	%
Total operating expenses	43,857	60.9	%	44,167		58.1	%
Operating loss	(2,863) (4.0)%	(2,833)	(3.7)%
Other expenses, net	(274) (0.4)%	(89)	(0.1)%
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes	(3,137) (4.4)%	(2,922)	(3.8)%
Income tax expense (benefit)	57	_	%	(1,137)	(1.5)%

Loss from continuing operations \$(3,194) (4.4)% \$(1,785) (2.3)%

Table of Contents

Net Sales

Net sales for the first quarter of 2013 decreased 5.2% to \$72.0 million from \$76.0 million in the first quarter of 2012. Excluding the Canadian exchange rate impact, net sales decreased 5.1% for the quarter. The first quarter of 2013 had one less selling day than the first quarter of 2012.

MRO net sales decreased 5.8% in the first quarter of 2013 to \$67.2 million from \$71.4 million in the prior year period. The \$4.2 million decrease in sales was primarily due to a decrease in sales coverage in certain areas due to an 11% decrease in average number of sales representatives in the first quarter of 2013 compared to the first quarter of 2012, lower government sales of \$1.5 million from the prior year quarter and one less selling day. MRO average daily sales decreased 4.3% to \$1.067 million in the first quarter of 2013 compared to \$1.115 million in the first quarter of 2012.

OEM net sales increased 4.0% in the first quarter of 2013, to \$4.8 million from \$4.6 million in the prior year period, primarily driven by stronger demand from existing customers.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased 0.8% in the first quarter of 2013, to \$41.0 million from \$41.3 million in the prior year period; however, gross profit increased as a percent of net sales to 56.9% from 54.4% a year ago. MRO gross profit as a percent of net MRO sales increased to 59.2% in the first quarter of 2013, compared to 56.5% in first quarter of 2012, primarily due to the liquidation of discontinued products at better than anticipated values and improved freight recoveries compared to the prior year quarter. We anticipate that our gross margin percentage will continue to be under pressure in the future as we continue to increase the percentage of national accounts in our customer mix and on-going competitive pressures.

OEM gross profit increased \$0.1 million and increased as a percent of net OEM sales to 24.7% in the first quarter of 2013 from 22.6% in the first quarter of 2012. The improvement as a percent of net sales was primarily driven by cost leverage gained from a higher sales volume to existing customers.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses consist of commissions paid to our sales representatives and related expenses to support our sales efforts. Selling expenses increased \$1.5 million to \$21.6 million in the first quarter of 2013 from \$20.1 million in the prior year quarter. Selling expenses as a percent of net sales increased to 30.0% in the first quarter of 2013 compared to 26.5% in the first quarter of 2012 primarily due to \$1.2 million of expenses for our four day national sales meeting and additional payroll-related tax expense of \$1.0 million as a result of the transition of our previous U.S. independent agents to employees on January 1, 2013. Excluding the cost of the sales meeting and the increased payroll-related taxes, selling expenses as a percent of net sales were 26.9% in the first quarter of 2013. The remainder of the increase in selling expenses as a percent of net sales is attributable to the impact of fixed selling costs on decreased sales levels.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of expenses to operate our distribution network and overhead expenses to manage the business. General and administrative expenses decreased \$1.6 million to \$22.2 million in the first quarter of 2013 from \$23.8 million in the prior year quarter. The decrease was primarily driven by reductions in compensation, consulting services and other cost reductions as a result of the cost control initiatives implemented in the second half of 2012. These savings were partially offset by an increase in stock based compensation, depreciation

and rent expense.

Severance Expenses

We incurred no severance expense in the first quarter of 2013, compared to \$0.2 million of severance expense recorded in the prior year quarter.

Other Expenses, Net

Other expense, net of \$0.3 million and \$0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, consists primarily of interest charged on the outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility.

Table of Contents

Income Tax Benefit

Primarily due to historical cumulative losses, substantially all of our deferred tax assets are subject to a tax valuation allowance. Therefore, no federal income tax benefit was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2013. The \$0.1 million tax expense for the first quarter primarily consists of state tax expense. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the income tax benefit was \$1.1 million on pre-tax loss of \$2.9 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 38.9%.

Loss from Continuing Operations

We reported a loss from continuing operations of \$3.2 million or a loss of \$0.37 per diluted share in the first quarter of 2013 compared to a loss from continuing operations of \$1.8 million or \$0.21 per diluted share in the first quarter of 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were \$1.3 million on March 31, 2013 compared to \$1.6 million on December 31, 2012. Net cash used in continuing operations of \$2.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was primarily used to fund increases in working capital. Accounts receivable increased \$4.8 million reflecting increased sales during the first quarter compared to sales in the fourth quarter of 2012. Additionally, inventories increased \$3.2 million during the quarter reflecting increased sales and a temporary inventory investment for the transition of operations from our Addison distribution center to our McCook facility in the second quarter of 2013. The \$8.9 million of net cash used in operations in the first quarter of 2012 was primarily used to fund working capital.

Capital expenditures were \$1.4 million for the first quarter of 2013 compared to \$4.4 million for the first quarter of 2012. Capital expenditures in the first quarter of 2013 were primarily for warehouse equipment to support the opening of the McCook, Illinois distribution center and improvements to our sales order entry system and redesigned web-site. Capital expenditures in the first quarter of 2012 were primarily for warehouse equipment to support the McCook facility, the build-out of the new leased headquarters and expenditures related to our web-site redevelopment.

Net cash provided by financing activities included borrowings of \$3.7 million and \$13.4 million in the first quarter of 2013 and 2012, respectively, primarily to support working capital and capital expenditure investments. No dividends were paid to shareholders in the first quarter of 2013 compared to \$1.0 million of dividends paid in the first quarter of 2012. Dividends are restricted under the Credit Facility to amounts not to exceed \$1.1 million per quarter subject to a formula based on EBITDA achieved in the previous quarter compared to target amounts specified in the Credit Facility.

Credit Facility

In addition to other customary representations, warranties and covenants, the Credit Facility requires us to comply with certain financial covenants. A minimum Consolidated EBITDA level, as defined in the Credit Facility, must be achieved on a quarterly basis as detailed in the following table:

Quarter	Enc	led
---------	-----	-----

March 31, 2013 June 30, 2013 Minimum EBITDA (as Defined in the Credit Facility) \$0 2,000,000

September 30, 2013	3,500,000
December 31, 2013	3,000,000
March 31, 2014	3,500,000
June 30, 2014	3,500,000

At March 31, 2013, EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Facility, was \$0.7 million which was in compliance with the minimum EBITDA covenant of breakeven for the quarter. Failure to meet these covenant requirements could lead to higher financing costs, increased restrictions or reduce or eliminate our ability to borrow funds. If we require more liquidity than is currently available to us under our Credit Facility, we may need to raise additional funds through debt or equity offerings which may not be available when needed or may not be available on terms favorable to us. Should funding be insufficient at any time in the future, we may

Table of Contents

be unable to develop or enhance our products or services, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

At March 31, 2013, we had an outstanding balance of \$19.8 million under the revolving line of credit of our Credit Facility and additional borrowing availability of \$15.8 million. We believe cash provided by operations and the funds available under our Credit Facility are sufficient to fund our operating requirements, strategic initiatives and capital improvements throughout 2013.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes in market risk at March 31, 2013 from that reported in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the period covered by this report (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of the Evaluation Date that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that (i) the information relating to Lawson, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

ITEMS 1, 1A, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of Part II are inapplicable and have been omitted from this report.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

2	
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as
	adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.

(Registrant)

Dated: April 25, 2013 /s/ Michael G. DeCata

Michael G. DeCata

President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

Dated: April 25, 2013 /s/ Ronald J. Knutson

Ronald J. Knutson

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial and accounting officer)